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The sentenci ng hearing we conducted this day involved a
techni cal but inportant question of the Sentencing Guidelines'
application that our Court of Appeals has yet to address.
Specifically, the question has to do with the interplay of the
so-call ed safety valve of US. S.G 8 5C1.2 with the "specific
of fense characteristics” provisions of US.S.G 8§ 2D1.1(b)(6).

As will be seen, this issue is quite consequential to this
def endant, who turns sixty-one in eight days.

James Rufus McCoy on January 5, 2001 pleaded guilty to
Count 3 of the Indictnent, which charged himw th manufacture of
cocai ne base in a school zone, in violation of 21 U S.C. § 860.
According to the Probation Ofice's calculation in the
Presentence I nvestigation Report ("PSI"), pursuant to U S.S.G 8§
2D1. 2, the base offense |evel for McCoy is 30, which is
predi cated on the 22.85 granms of crack that McCoy cooked, plus 2
| evel s for cooking the cocaine at a location within 1,000 feet of
a public school (PSI § 21). Pursuant to U S.S.G § 3E1.1, MCoy
receives a three level reduction for his tinmely expression of
acceptance of responsibility. Lastly, the Probation Oficer

applies US.S.G 8§ 2D1.1(b)(6) because McCoy neets the five



criteria set forth in U S. S .G 8§ 5Cl1.2, thereby decreasing his
total offense level by two |evels (see PSI 1 22).

The Governnent takes issues with this |ast step.
Specifically, it contends that no aspect of the "safety val ve"
provided by 8§ 5Cl.2 should apply, and that therefore the proper
total offense |level should be 27, with a range of 70-87 nonths,
rat her than the 60-71 nonth range the Probation Oficer
cal cul ated (as supplenented by the application of the mandatory
m ni mum under 21 U . S.C. § 860). See PSI {1 69-70.

For the reasons that follow, we overrule the

Governnent's objections to the Probation Oficer's calculation.

Application of § 2D1.1(b)(6)

United State Sentencing Guideline 8 2D1. 1(b)(6), which
falls under the “specific offense characteristics” section for
drug offenses, states that “[i]f the defendant neets the criteria
set forth in subdivisions (1)-(5) of 8 5C1.2 (Limtation on
Applicability of Statutory M ni mum Sentences in Certain Cases)
and the offense | evel determ ned above is |evel 26 or greater,
decrease by 2 levels.” In turn, US S G § 5Cl.2 states:

In the case of an offense under 21 U S.C. 8§
841, § 844, § 846, § 960, or § 963, the court
shal |l inpose a sentence in accordance with
t he applicable guidelines without regard to
any statutory mninmum sentence, if the court
finds that the defendant neets the criteria
in 18 U S.C. 8 3553(f)(1)-(5) set forth
ver bati m bel ow

(1) the defendant does not have nore
than 1 crimnal history point, as determ ned
under the sentencing guidelines;



(2) the defendant did not use violence
or credible threats of violence or possess a
firearmor other dangerous weapon (or induce
anot her participant to do so) in connection
with the of fense;

(3) the offense did not result in death
or serious bodily injury to any person;

(4) the defendant was not an organi zer,
| eader, manager, or supervisor of others in
the of fense, as determ ned under the
sent enci ng gui delines and was not engaged in
a continuing crimnal enterprise, as defined
in 21 US C 8§ 848; and

(5) not later than the tinme of the
sentenci ng hearing, the defendant has
truthfully provided to the Governnent al
informati on and evi dence the defendant has
concerning the offense or offenses that were
part of the sane course of conduct or of a
common schene or plan, but the fact that the
def endant has no rel evant or useful other
information to provide or that the Governnent
is already aware of the information shall not
preclude a determ nation by the court that
t he defendant has conplied with this
requiremnent.

The Governnent does not dispute that McCoy neets these
five characteristics. The CGovernnent maintains, however, that
because McCoy pleaded guilty to a violation of 21 U S.C. 8§ 860,
he is not eligible for the 2 |level reduction in 8§ 2D1.1(b)(6),
since 8 860 is not one of the offenses listed in the first
paragraph of 8 5C1.2. The Probation Ofice responds that
al t hough McCoy woul d not be eligible for a 8§ 5CL.2 “safety
valve”, this is analytically distinct fromhis eligibility under
8§ 2D1.1(b)(6), which nerely references sone subparts of § 5Cl. 2,
and does not include all the other limtations contained in §
5C1. 2.

Specifically, the Governnment argues that 8§ 2D1. 1(b) (6)
shoul d only apply when the “safety valve” provided in 8§ 5C1.2

al so obtains. The Governnent cites in support Judge Katz's
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recent Menorandumin United States v. Otiz, 100 F. Supp. 2d 295,
299 (E.D. Pa. 2000).

In Otiz, the defendant had pl eaded guilty to,
inter alia, 21 U S.C 8 860, the offense to which MCoy pl eaded

here, and the probation officer had refused to give himthe 2

of fense | evel reduction pursuant to 8 2Dl. 1(b)(6) even though
Otiz met the five criteriain § 5CL.2. * Disposing of this
obj ection, Judge Katz said:

Ortiz argues that because he is not a manager
or supervisor, he qualifies for a two-1eve
decrease in his offense level. |In order to
receive this dowward adjustnent, a defendant
must have a pre-adjustnent offense |evel of
at least 26 and neet the “safety val ve”
criteria set forthin US S.G § 5Cl.2.

See U.S.S.G 8§ 2D1.1(b)(6). However, section
5C1.2 only applies to certain enunerated drug
of fenses: it does not apply to one of the

of fenses to which Otiz pled guilty,
distribution of a controlled substance within
1000 feet of a school in violation of 21
US C §8860. See US S.G 8§ 5CL.2; cf.
United States v. MQuilkin, 78 F.3d 105, 108-
09 (3d Gr. 1996) (holding that relief under
18 U . S.C. § 3553(f), the statutory safety

val ve provision, is not available to

def endants convicted of a violation of 21

U S.C. 8 860 because that offense is excl uded
fromthe |ist of offenses to which the
statutory safety val ve applies).

Accordingly, Otiz cannot receive a two-Ievel
safety val ve downward adjustnent to his

of fense | evel .

Otiz, 100 F.Supp.2d at 299.

Otiz is the only case directly on point that the

Governnent cites. The Governnent goes on to argue that its claim

"Way the Probation Office takes inconsistent positions
on this point is a nystery we need not solve.
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is buttressed by the fact that our Court of Appeals has found
that 18 U. S.S.G 8§ 3553(f), the enabling safety val ve statute,
does not apply to violations of 21 U S.C. §8 860. 1In this regard,
the Government cites United States v. McQuilkin, 78 F.3d 105,

108-09 (3d G r. 1996), which Judge Katz cited, and United States

v. Watterson, 219 F.3d 232 (3d Cr. 2000), in which the panel

hel d that the upward adjustnment for a school zone drug offense
(pursuant to 8§ 2D1.2) did not apply where the defendant wasn’t
charged under 21 U S.C. § 860, even though the offense had in
fact taken place inside a school zone. These two decisions, the
Gover nnent nmai ntains, shows that our Court of Appeals views the
Gui delines provisions for 21 U S.C. §8 841 and § 860 as being
conpletely distinct; thus, as allowng McCoy a 2 | evel |ower

adj ustment pursuant to 8 2D1.1(b)(6) would “m x” the Cuidelines
as to these offenses, it is inpermssible.

The CGovernnent al so notes that although § 2D1. 1(b) (6)
does not reference the introduction to 8 5Cl1.2, § 2D1.1(b)(6)’s
“apparent purpose . . . is to state that when the ‘safety val ve’
applies to a drug count, there should be an additional 2-Ievel
reduction.” Gov't.'s Sentencing Mem at 5. The Governnent goes
on to note that there is nothing in the Guidelines' commentary
for either section to suggest that the Comn ssion intended 8
2D1.1(b)(6) to apply if the safety valve did not. Finally, the
Gover nnent contends that applying the 8 2D1. 1(b)(6) reduction to
21 U.S.C. 8 860 would negate the 2 | evel upward adjustnent
provided in § 2D1. 2.



The Probation Oficer argues that 8§ 2D1.1(b)(6) does
not require that McCoy satisfy the “safety valve” requirenents
and instead sinply references the five conditions. He also notes
that other Crcuits have nade the safety valve available to
def endant s whose offenses were not specifically included in §

5Cl.2. See, e.qg., United States v. Mertilus, 111 F.3d 870 (11lth

Cr. 1997).
Anal ysi s

There is no question that the “safety val ve” provided
in 18 U S.C. 8 3553 and § 5C1.2 cannot apply to McCoy because he
pl eaded guilty to 21 U.S.C. 8 860. This was the plain holding of
MQui | kin, which relied, in so holding, on (1) the observation
that 8 860 was not one of the specifically enunerated provisions
and (2) application of the canon of construction that inclusio

uni us est exclusio alterius, MQilkin, 78 F.3d at 108. The

guestion is whether McQuilkin carries the day for the Governnent.
As noted above, Judge Katz's opinion in Otiz held that
it does. CQur research found no other case in our Crcuit that
addressed the probl em before us.
Wth great deference to Judge Katz's reasoning in
Otiz, we cone to another conclusion. Otiz held that in order
to receive the grace of 8§ 2Dl1.1(b)(6), a defendant nust neet §

5C1.2 in toto. Looking at the | anguage of § 2D1.1(b)(6), the

Sent enci ng Conm ssion was at pains to sinply appropriate the five

criteria from§8 5ClL.2, without necessarily adopting anything el se



associated wth § 5Cl1. 2. I f the Conm ssion wanted to have that
2 level adjustnent apply only to those defendants eligible for
relief under 8 5C1.2, it could readily have said so in just a few
words. But it did not do so.

For simlar reasons we find unconvincing the
Governnent’s argunents (1) that we should reject the application
of 8§ 2D1.1(b)(6) here because there is nothing in the Guidelines
to suggest that it was neant to apply if the safety valve didn't,
and (2) that § 2D1.1(b)(6)’s “apparent purpose” was to give an

2 These

additional break to those eligible for the safety val ve.
argunents seemto stemfromthe initial supposition that §

2D1. 1(b)(6) is sonehow related to the safety valve, and is not
just borrow ng | anguage fromit. But this is a supposition that
deci des the issue.

Agai n, the bare |anguage of 8§ 2D1.1(b)(6) nerely
borrows the five 8 5Cl1.2 criteria. It does not tie 8§ 2D1.1(b)(6)
to the presence or absence of the “safety valve”, which is set
forth in the introductory paragraph to 8 5Cl.2, a paragraph that
§ 2D1. 1(b) (6) does not nention or incorporate.

We al so find wanting the Governnent’s conpl ai nt that

the application of this adjustnent negates the 2 |evel upward

*The logic of this proposition is not inmediately
apparent to us. Since 8 5Cl1.2 already allows for the "piercing"
of a mandatory m ni num sentence, if the Conm ssion nerely
intended also to give 8 5Cl1.2 beneficiaries an additional 2 |evel
drop, why did it not include such a provision in 8§ 5Cl1.2? That
is, on the Governnent's theory, why would the 2 |l evel drop be
provided in such a roundabout way?
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adj ustnent for being in a school zone. This contention is sinply
beside the point. It is perfectly consistent for the Conmm ssion
to give 2 extra levels with one hand, but then take away 2 |evels
with the other if the defendant neets the rather stringent set of
five criteria that are set forth in 8 5C1.2. It is hardly every
drug defendant who coul d neet these, so the fact that one who
does neet themessentially “gets away with” selling in a schoo
zone for sentencing purposes should not trouble us too nuch.
Finally, we cannot accept the Governnent's argunent
based on the relationship between the Cuidelines provisions for 8§
841 and 8§ 860. As Watterson denonstrates, our Court of Appeals
t akes seriously the difference between being charged with 21
US C 8 860 (as MCoy was) and being charged with 21 U S. C. 8§
841, even if that violation of 8 841 occurs in a school zone. O
particular note is that our Court of Appeals maintains this
di stinction despite that the mandatory m ninumthat applies in
this case (and that applied in Watterson) in fact cones from$§
841, since § 860 tells us to apply either a one year nmandatory
mnimum (in 8 860) or the mandatory mninmumfrom§ 841, if it is
greater. That is, the statutes thenselves are quite intertw ned.
Thus, we could see the follow ng argunent as resulting
fromthe Governnent’'s logic: (1) MCoy pleaded to 21 U . S.C. 8
860; (2) the offense level for § 860 comes from§ 2D1.2°3

*Now, § 2D1.2 does sinply say (in effect) “add 2 to the
base offense level fromthe drug quantity table in § 2D1.1", but
pursuant to Watterson, the argunent would go, this cross-

(continued...)



therefore (3) 8§ 2D1.1, including the 2 | evel downward adj ust nent
in 8 2D1.1(b)(6), is sinply inapposite to the cal culation of our
of fense | evel here, since we know we nust keep 8 860 sentencing
separate from § 841 sentencing, and 8§ 2D1.2 is the Cuidelines
section for 8§ 860. Mdreover, the argunent would continue, if we
| ook at the “statutory provisions” listing for § 2D1.1, we note
that it does not include 8 860, while 8 860 is one of the
statutory provisions listed for 8§ 2D1. 2.

Thi s hypot hesi zed argunent does not work. Section

2D1. 2 provides the base offense |evel for those convicted under

21 U.S.C. §8 860. However, the base offense level is the only
thing included under 8§ 2D1.2. There are no other provisions;
nost notably, there are no “specific offense characteristics”.
Conversely, in 8 2D1.1(b), there are six “specific
of fense characteristics”, including 8 2D1.1(b)(6), which is at

i ssue here. “Characteristic” adjustnents include:

. 2 level increase for use of a dangerous weapon

. 2 level increase (or increase to level 26) for use
of certain aircraft

. 2 level increase if object was to distribute in
prison

. 2 level increase for certain nethanphetam ne

manuf acture or inportation

. 2 level increase for unlawful discharge or
handl i ng of toxic substance

%C...continued)
reference between the two QGui delines sections should not seduce
us into conbining the Cuidelines.
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. 2 level decrease for neeting 8 5C1.2 criteria
Thus, it would seemonly logical that to the extent

that any of these adjustnents apply to 21 U . S.C. § 860, then they

Q

all nmust apply, including 8 2D1.1(b)(6). Therefore, the only way
the Governnent’'s “structure of the guidelines” argunent could
work would be if the Governnent woul d concede that it woul d not
apply, for exanple, 8 2D1.1(b)(1) to give an adjustnent upward if
McCoy had a gun, or 8§ 2D1.1(b)(3) to give an adjustnent upward if
McCoy had been manufacturing drugs destined for a prison. But
such a claim even were the Governnment to nmake it, would seem
perverse since it would be exenpting school -zone drug
manuf acturers from many upward adjustnents sinply because they
were in a school zone.

Hence, we conclude that the § 2D1.1(b) adjustnents in
general are applied to 21 U S.C 8§ 860 crimnals, and thus §
2D1. 1(b)(6) is as well. There is nothing in the |anguage of §
2D1.1(b)(6) to suggest that the Conm ssion was doi ng anything
ot her than borrowing, for its own ends, the five criteria from§
5C1.2. Its relation to that “safety valve” provision ends there.
Simply because McCoy is not eligible for a safety val ve departure
t hus does not disqualify himfromthe 2 | evel downward adj ust nent
under § 2D1.1(b)(6).

United States v. Mertilus, 111 F.3d 870 (11th Grr.

1997) squarely supports this proposition. 1t held that §
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2D1.1(b)(6)* "does not limt consideration of the two-Ievel
reduction to the enunerated offenses in section 5C1.2" and “does
not limt the application of the five factors in section 5CL.2 to
the crimes listed therein,” Mrtilus, 111 F.3d at 874.

We therefore will overrule the Governnent's objection.

‘At the time of the Mertilus opinion, the provision now
identified as § 2D1. 1(b)(6) was |located at § 2D1.1(b)(4).
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I N THE UNI TED STATES DI STRI CT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DI STRI CT OF PENNSYLVAN A

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA : CRI M NAL ACTI ON
V. :
JAMES RUFUS MCCOY, JR No. 00-335
ORDER

AND NOW this 22nd day of My, 2001, upon consideration
of the Government's objection to paragraph 22 of the Presentence
| nvestigation Report, and of the parties' nenoranda, and after
the sentencing hearing this day, and for the reasons set forth in
t he acconmpanyi ng Menorandum it is hereby ORDERED that the
Governnent's objection is OVERRULED.

BY THE COURT:

Stewart Dal zell, J.



